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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	       KORY GLICK, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

       CHRISTOPHER’S DRYWALL,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

       AIG CLAIM SERVICES,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	    FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

    AWCB Case No.  200415663
    AWCB Decision No.  08-0017
    Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

    on January 31, 2008


On November 6, 2007, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s request for medical benefits, total temporary disability (TTD) benefits, permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits, reemployment benefits, penalties, and interest.   The employee represented himself.  Attorney Kelly Cavanaugh represented the employer and insurer (employer).  We held the record open until December 5, 2007, to receive documentation of medical expenses from the employee and to provide the employer and employee the opportunity to file post-hearing briefing.  The employee failed to file any additional medical records.  On November 20, 2007, the employee filed a “Summary Breif (sic) For Medical Costs”.  The Employer’s Closing Arguments were filed on November 21, 2007.  We closed the record when we met on December 5, 2007.  Following the November 6, 2007 hearing but prior to the Board issuing this Decision, Board Member Gloria O’Neill resigned from the Board.  We proceeded as a two-member panel, a quorum under AS 23.30.005(f).  
ISSUES

(1) Is the employee entitled to additional TTD benefits, under AS 23.30.185?
(2) Did the RBA abuse his discretion in determining the employee not eligible for reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041(e)?
(3) Is the employee entitled to additional medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a)?
(4) Is the employee entitled to PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190?
(5)  Is the employee entitled to penalties, under AS 23.30.155(e)?

(6)  Is the employee entitled to interest, under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142?
CASE HISTORY AND SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. HISTORY OF KORY GLICK V. GENUINE PARTS COMPANY
The Board has previously decided a claim by this employee for injury to this same body part with a different employer in Kory N. Glick v. Genuine Parts Company, AWCB Decision No. 06-0293 (October 31, 2006).  The summary of evidence and findings of that decision are incorporated herein.  In that decision the Board denied and dismissed the employee’s claim for additional TTD, PPI and medical benefits for an injury to his right shoulder while working for the Genuine Parts Company.
The employee, while working for Genuine Parts Company as a counter trainee, was injured on June 1, 1999, when he fell off a truck while unloading material at the Kenai landfill.   The same day the employee saw John Kasukonis, D.O., at the emergency room of Central Peninsula General Hospital with pain in his right shoulder and right lateral chest wall.  Dr. Kasukonis noted the employee explained he “was unloading trash from the back of a pickup as part of his job.  He slipped and fell off the bed of the pickup onto his right shoulder.”  Dr. Kasukonis diagnosed “right chest wall contusion, contusion and sprain of right shoulder.”  Dr. Kasukonis fitted the employee with a sling, prescribed Vicodin, and released the employee from work for the next five days.
   
Genuine Parts Company accepted the injury and initiated payment of TTD benefits.
  On June 7, 1999, Bobbie Brooks, P.A.-C, saw the employee and noted he had full range of motion but some tenderness.  P.A.-C Brooks released the employee to return to work with a ten-pound overhead lifting restriction for one week and a twenty pound general lifting restriction for nine weeks, when no restrictions would apply unless his shoulder failed to completely resolve.
  
On June 11, 1999, the employee returned to P.A.-C Brooks explaining that he had returned to work and was now experiencing constant and increasing pain in his neck and both shoulders.  P.A.-C Brooks noted the employee had reduced range of motion and muscle tightness.   P.A.-C Brooks observed that the employee: “doesn’t seem to tolerate the pain very well and actually gets a little diaphoretic.”  P.A.-C Brooks released him from work for a week and prescribed muscle relaxants.
  P.A.-C Brooks referred the employee for five physical therapy treatments during the coming week.
  In a June 11, 1999, Physician’s Report PA-C Brooks reported the employee was medically stable, estimated one week of further treatment and predicted that the employee would not incur permanent impairment from his injury.

The employee attended four physical therapy sessions with Susan Minogue, L.P.T.
  On June 18, 1999, the employee saw P.A.-C Brooks who noted he was “feeling much better”.  P.A.-C Brooks released the employee to return to work on June 20, 1999, with a twenty-pound lifting restriction until June 27, 1999, when no restrictions would apply.
  The employee attended two additional physical therapy treatments.
  

On June 21, 1999, P.A.-C Brooks responded to an inquiry from Travelers Property Casualty stating that the employee had no additional appointments scheduled, was much improved, had full range of motion with limited tenderness, was medically stable as of June 20, 1999, and had no predictable impairment.
 
On June 28, 1999, the employee returned to P.A.-C Brooks, complaining of shoulder, neck and left arm pain.   P.A.-C Brooks noted, “Certainly it is possible that Kory’s muscles have tightened up enough to bother him this much but at his young and healthy state I would have some concerns of malingering.”   P.A.-C Brooks referred the employee to Timothy Powers, M.D., “to differentiate a bilateral capsulitis from malingering.”  P.A.-C Brooks limited the employee to working half days until he was seen by Dr. Powers.
  
On July 14, 1999, the employee saw Ned Magen, M.D., at the emergency room of Central Peninsula General Hospital complaining that he had felt a “pop” in his lower back while showering and was experiencing very mild low back pain and numbness in his back and legs.  The employee reported a “history of back problems from a basketball injury.”  Dr. Magen assessed “Intermittent back and abdominal numbness of unclear etiology” and recommended the employee should be reevaluated the next day if he was still having problems.
  
On July 15, 1999, the employee saw Dr. Powers at Central Peninsula General Hospital and reported extreme pain in his lower thoracic spine.  Dr. Powers identified a 50 percent neurological deficit on the right side.  Upon examination with palpation in the thoracolumbar junction, he employee had extreme pain, became flushed and diaphoretic.  Dr. Powers had the employee transferred to the emergency room for x-rays.
  Mark O. McVee, M.D. interpreted the x-ray as indicating a mild loss of height of the T8 and T9 vertebral bodies on the lateral view.  When compared with an x-ray taken on June 24, 1999 the loss of height was a new development.
  At the emergency room, Robert Ledda, M.D., diagnosed “Acute neck pain with radiculopathy to right shoulder, suspect secondary to cervical disk disease, probable C7-8 nerve root.”  Dr. Ledda recommended the employee “discontinue narcotics but continue anti-inflammatories and muscle relaxers” and strict rest.

On July 19, 1999, Dr. Powers released the employee from work until further notice.
  On August 4, 1999, the employee saw Edward Voke, M.D., for complaints of low back and shoulder pain.  Dr. Voke identified winging of the scapula, particularly on the right, and diagnosed serratus anterior syndrome, right and cervicolumbar strain.   Dr. Voke removed the employee from work until further notice, recommended continued physical therapy and advised he return to Dr. Powers for further care.

On August 23, 1999, Dr. Powers responded to an inquiry from Travelers Property Casualty stating that the employee could return to work with restrictions, which were no driving, no lifting over one pound, no reaching overhead, no standing over two hours and no sitting over one hour.
  On August 24, 1999, the employee returned to light-duty work with the employer.  Later that day the employee was transported to the emergency room by the Kenai Fire Department.
  The employee was seen by C. Chris Mickelson, M.D., who noted:

He has been off work for the last month, had his first day back at work today where he was on light duty.  He stood, answered some phone calls but did not do any significant lifting.  He stated he was driving home when, “my jaw locked up and I was paralyzed.”  On further questioning, it appears that he had some spasm in his back that tends to radiate up into the back of the spine.”

Dr. Mickelson diagnosed acute muscle spasm, scheduled the employee for a bone scan and referred him back to Dr. Powers.

On August 26, 1999, the employee underwent a whole body bone scan by Dr. McVee.  The scan revealed no abnormalities in the spine or shoulders.
  
On August 31, 1999, at the request of Dr. Powers, the employee underwent an MRI
 of the right shoulder.  John J. Kottra, M.D. interpreted the MRI as indicating the possibility of a partial tear of the supraspinatus tendon and the possibility of a contusion or hairline fracture.
  
On September 9, 1999, Dr. Powers referred the employee to Michael Gevaert, M.D., for evaluation of back and neck pain.
  On September 27, 1999, Dr. Gevaert evaluated the employee.  Dr. Gevaert noted that while the MRI raised the possibility of a partial tear of the supraspinatus tendon and x-rays showed the possibility of compression fracture, the bone scan was negative for bony abnormalities at the thoracic spine.  The employee listed Vicodin, Flexeril and Lodine as current medications.   Dr. Gevaert noted right shoulder scapula winging.  An electromyographic study was normal.  Dr. Gevaert concluded he believed the employee’s pain “represents a combination of shoulder pathology and cervical myofascial pain.”  Dr. Gevaert commented that the employee’s “clinical examination and history is confusing.  He is a poor historian.”  Dr. Gevaert felt the employee would benefit from “a comprehensive rehabilitation program that should address both the impingement syndrome and cervical myofascial pain.”

On October 10, 1999, the employee saw Cynthia Mildbrand, M.D., at the emergency room of Central Peninsula General Hospital complaining of right shoulder pain.  Dr. Mildbrand noted the employee additionally complained of fever, abdominal discomfort and diffuse pain.  Dr. Mildbrand noted the employee reported “stabbing pain below the shoulders” and that “they won’t give me anything for pain.”   Dr. Mildbrand noted that she discussed testing options with him but that the employee was “observed leaving the department 15 minutes after I had been in to see him” and that he did not return.
  Emergency room staff unsuccessfully attempted to telephone the employee on October 11 and 14, 1999.  On October 16, 1999, they talked to the employee’s sister-in-law who advised them he would call the emergency room if he needed them.

On November 11, 1999, Alaskan Physical Therapy issued a Discharge Summary stating the employee had been seen four times from September 30, 1999 to October 21, 1999, but failed to show up at six appointments.  He was discharged “due to lack of compliance with therapy.”
    

On February 21, 2000, the employee returned to Dr. Powers reporting continuing right shoulder pain.  Dr. Powers restricted lifting to nothing over one pound, ordered further physical therapy and a repeat MRI.
  The employee underwent a right shoulder MRI on February 29, 2000, which showed “No definite abnormality.”
  On April 17, 2000, Dr. Powers diagnosed “right frozen shoulder” and recommended “advil/motrin” for pain.
  The employee was maintained on modified work.

On May 11, 2000, the employee saw George Rhyneer, M.D.  Dr. Rhyneer noted:

I had difficulty figuring out exactly what is the patient’s primary problem and his statement that he currently has a frozen shoulder. . .  It also appears his past physicians have searched for any unusual diagnosis, which would account for his multiple problems, including a frozen shoulder, tendinitis, scapulothoracic pain, and cervical or lumbar spine strain.

In reviewing all of the patient’s films today, as well as on physical examination, I find nothing to support any of his injuries.

Dr. Rhyneer’s assessment was the employee “had a soft tissue injury to his right shoulder almost one year ago with no residual functional loss.  Non-organic pain in a patient exhibiting pain behavior and malingering.”  Dr. Rhyneer did not recommend further treatment and suggested “follow-up only as required or needed for a second opinion.  Otherwise we do not need to see him again.”

On May 16, 2000, the employee saw Dr. Powers.  They discussed Dr. Rhyneer’s evaluation and Dr. Powers gave the employee codine samples and limited him from lifting no more than 5 pounds.

On July 19, 2000, the employee saw Dr. Powers who continued his lifting restriction.  That same day, Dr. Powers responded to a letter from Northern Rehabilitation Services, Inc., stating he expected the employee to be medically stable on July 19, 2000.  Dr. Powers checked a box indicating he anticipated the employee would incur a ratable permanent impairment as a result of his industrial injury of June 1, 1999.  Dr. Powers indicated the employee felt he could not return to work at this time and had a weight lifting limit of 5 pounds.

On September 6, 2000, Dr. Powers responded to a letter from Northern Rehabilitation Services, Inc., declining to do a permanent impairment rating and suggesting the adjuster ask the employee who he would like to do his impairment rating.

On October 12, 2000, the employee saw Larry Levine, M.D., who performed a PPI rating evaluation.  Dr. Levine identified the employee’s condition as “post shoulder contusion with apparent possible contusion versus slight fracture, nondisplace, without residual.”  Dr. Levine found no basis for a ratable cervical impairment.  Dr. Levine found no evidence of preexisting or degenerative conditions.  Dr. Levine identified some crepitation and snapping about the scapulothoracic joint of the right upper extremity consistent with Dr. Rhyneer’s findings.   Based on this finding Dr. Levine assessed a 2% PPI rating.  Dr. Levine opined the employee could return to work at the job held at the time of injury, if he limited his right arm from sustained overhead activities. 
  Genuine Parts Company paid the 2% PPI rating in a lump sum.
  
II. HISTORY OF KORY GLICK V. CHRISTOPHER DRY WALL
On August 27, 2004, the employee saw Minnie Mercer, P.A., at Dena’ina Health Clinic reporting a work related right shoulder injury.  The employee explained, “he was lifting some heavy sheetrock” and “he felt pain in the shoulder blade and the top of his shoulder.”  Examination indicated the employee had “decreased strength with range of motion” and that “external rotation does cause some discomfort in his scapula area.”  The employee also reported the prior June 1999 injury.
  X-ray examination on August 27, 2004, by Ronald Lewis, M.D., reported a normal shoulder.
  

On August 31, 2004, the employee was seen again at Dena’ina Health Clinic.   The employee reported his condition was “not worse” and “still flares up.”  Examination revealed a tender scapula, that his right shoulder had a better range of motion and “good strength.”
  
On September 10, 2004, the employee returned to the Dena’ina Health Clinic for continuing right shoulder pain.  Ann Mercer, F.N.P., noted the employee stated it was “affecting his work as a drywaller.”  The employee indicated that “since an injury four years ago, the pain has never gone away completely.”  Nurse Mercer noted the employee had right scapular winging and referred him to an orthopedist at Alaska Native Medical Center (ANMC). 
    

On September 21, 2004, the employee saw orthopedic surgeon, Jeffery Parker, M.D., at ANMC.  The employee related he had a 1999 injury to his right shoulder and prior treatment.  On examination, Dr. Parker noted “mild scapular winging” of the right side and “impingement type symptoms.”  He noted the employee had “full unrestricted range of motion of his right shoulder.” Dr. Parker noted the employee had impingement tendencies with both pain and crepitance.  Dr. Parker recommended a repeat x-ray and MRI of the right shoulder.  He outlined various treatment options based on the findings of future testing.
  

On October 1, 2004, the employee had an MRI of his right shoulder.  Grant Tibbetts, M.D., interpreted the findings as moderate tendinopathy.  Dr. Tibbetts identified no additional shoulder pathology but opined a partial tear could not be ruled out.
  

On October 5, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Parker, who reported continuing “impingement type symptoms.”  Dr. Parker indicated the MRI revealed thickening of the supraspinatus tendon, but no obvious tears.  Dr. Parker discussed treatment options with the employee, and the employee wished to proceed with a right shoulder arthroscopy.  Dr. Parker notified the employee that the winging of the scapula will not be corrected with surgery.  Dr. Parker noted “At this point, the patient chose option of physical therapy, home exercise, and anti-inflammatories.”
 

On October 8, 2004, the employee filed a Report of Occupational Injury (ROI) for an injury on September 27, 2004, to his right shoulder, stating:  “re-aggravated shoulder moving sheet rock.”
  Also on October 8, 2004, the employee filed a workers’ compensation claim (WCC) against Genuine Parts Company, in which he sought TTD,
 PPI and medical benefits.  
On October 13, 2004, Dr. Parker performed diagnostic arthroscopic surgery on the employee’s right shoulder.  Dr. Parker reported the only abnormality was a little bit of a subsurface stretching or tendinopathy with exposed collagen fibers: a subsurface tearing near the insertion of the supraspinatous tendon to the greater tuberosity and in the area biceps tendon.  This was debrided back to healthy solid tendon through an anterior portal.  Exam of the subacromial space showed no abnormality and no evidence of impingement.
  

On October 28, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Parker for surgery follow up.  The employee reported “his shoulder is feeling quite a bit better that (sic) it was prior to surgery.”  Dr. Parker’s plan was to refer the employee to physical therapy and recheck him in six weeks.  He opined he would be able to release the employee back to work then.
  Also on October 28, 2004, the employee filed a Request for Eligibility Evaluation for Reemployment Benefits identifying his September 27, 2004 injury with the employer as the reason for his need for these benefits.

On November 4, 2004, Genuine Parts Company controverted the employee’s October 8, 2004 WCC asserting that the claims for additional compensation benefits were time-barred under AS 23.30.105 and that no further medical benefits were due.

On November 17, 2004, the employee saw Marylee Kreger, A.P.N. at the Dena’ina Health Clinic for surgery follow up.  The employee requested a refill of his pain medications.  Nurse Kreger noted the range of motion of the employee’s right shoulder was “increasing dramatically”. A.P.N. Kreger assessed a “frozen right shoulder” and his prescription for hydrocodone was renewed.
  

On January 4, 2005, the employee saw Dr. Parker who noted the employee appeared to be “completely healed from his surgical lesion”, “has had a pretty good range of motion return” and “still has some pain and discomfort.”  Dr. Parker released the employee to return to work with no specific restrictions other than he “can work to whatever he finds comfortable.”
  However, due to the employee’s young age and existence of shoulder pain for two years, Dr. Parker suggested the employee get a new job in which he could avoid overhead work and lifting.  Dr. Parker indicated it was probable the employee would continue to have pain and problems if he went back to installing drywall.

Also on January 4, 2005, Dr. Parker completed a medical report in response to a message left by the employee’s mother, who was concerned and wanted greater detail regarding how much work her son was permitted to do.  Dr. Parker reiterated that he strongly suggested the employee consider vocational rehabilitation due to the pain in his shoulder that would likely be aggravated with overhead work.  Dr. Parker indicated, however, that testing was necessary in order to provide a formal restriction or functional capacity to determine how much work the employee can or cannot perform.  According to Dr. Parker, it was not possible for him to determine exactly how much weight the employee could lift, in what position, or how many times.  Dr. Parker considered the employee was a young, healthy male and indicated he could do a certain amount of aggressive, hard physical work, but the amount that could be performed depended upon the employee’s ingenuity and interest, in addition to proper body mechanics, how the employee does his actual lifting, the speed at which an object is lifted, how close the object is to the employee’s body and whether it is a simple straight lift or involves twisting or rotation movement.  As a result, the only restriction Dr. Parker placed upon the employee was to do that work that he finds comfortable.

On January 26, 2005, the employee was seen at the Dena’ina Health Clinic for right hand swelling and bruising from punching a wall two days earlier.
  

On February 17, 2005 the employee went to an emergency room for chest pain.  On February 18, 2005, the employee saw Nurse Kreger at the Dena’ina Health Clinic for pain and requesting to have his hydrocodone and ibuprofen prescriptions re-written.  Nurse Kreger noted that the employee’s “significant other” explained that the employee was “in so much pain that he cannot bend over to put his shoes” on.  Nurse Kreger observed the employee “has a flattened affect and poor eye contact and did not answer questions well.”  Nurse Kreger reported the employee was “a very poor historian.”  Nurse Kreger examined the employee and noted: “When I asked him just to sit up, he stated that he could not do so by himself; his significant other had to help him to a sitting position and he had lots of moaning and groaning while getting up to the sitting position.”  Nurse Kreger reported, “light touch to the lateral side of his chest elicited a loud moan and pain behavior, twisting away from me.”  Nurse Kreger further observed the employee “could not bear to even have his skin touched lightly because it hurt so bad all over” and that the employee had “pain from the top of his left shoulder, down his back, around his side and then up to the left shoulder along the left side.”  Nurse Kreger reported the employee “feels he cannot do anything, he cannot lift anything” and that all he “can do is lay around and take pain pills.”  While at one point the report indicates the employee’s pain medications were both re-written, at a subsequent point it states only the ibuprofen was re-filled and that the clinic “declined to fill any more hydrocodone at this time.”
  

On April 11, 2005, the employee was seen by William L. Cooper, M.D.  The employee explained to Dr. Cooper: “In 1999, he fell while unloading a truck and injured his shoulder.  He continued working in spite of problems and then had another injury in September 2004 while doing drywall.”  The employee reported positive results from recent physical therapy.  Dr. Cooper examined the employee and reported there was still some winging of the right scapula, “no muscle atrophy,” “good abduction though flexion is still not as good as the left.”  Dr. Cooper opined that the employee “will probably never be able to return to overhead work such as drywall” and that “after his physical therapy he should pursue the vocational rehab.”
   

On April 15, 2005, the employee returned to the Dena’ina Health Clinic requesting a referral to a shoulder specialist “for work comp.”  Dr. Cooper recommended a consultation with a shoulder specialist and gave the employee a referral but it did not specify a provider.
  
On May 17, 2005, the employee was seen by Dennis Serie P.A.-C in the office of orthopedist Jeffrey S. Moore, M.D.  P.A.-C Serie reported the employee had “positive scapular winging”, which may be a chronic condition.  Mr. Serie did not recommend surgery.  He noted the employee was not currently doing any strengthening exercises and recommended strengthening exercises for his rotator cuff and serratus anterior.

On July 1, 2005, Dr. Cooper responded to a “check the box” letter from Rehabilitation Specialist Elisa E. Hitchcock, G.A., C.D.M.S., of Northern Rehabilitation Services, Inc., indicating he anticipated the employee would incur a PPI as a result of his September 27, 2004 injury.  At Ms. Hitchcock’s request, Dr. Cooper also reviewed the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (DOT) Job Descriptions representing the employee’s ten-year work history.  Dr. Cooper did not approve the “Taper” job description noting the employee was unable to do any overhead work.  Dr. Cooper did not approve the “Driver, Sales Route” job description noting the employee may have increased pain with heavy lifting.  He did approve the “Salesperson, Parts” job description.
  
On July 7, 2005, Rehabilitation Specialist Hitchcock submitted a Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation (RBEE) regarding the employee.  The evaluation recommended the employee be found not eligible for reemployment benefits.  This recommendation was based on Dr. Cooper’s finding that the employee could return to work as a “Salesperson, Parts” and a labor market survey which indicated such jobs were available in Alaska at that time.
  
On July 25, 2005, the Reemployment Benefits Administrator (RBA) found the employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits.  The RBA explained that Dr. Cooper approved the job description of “salesperson, parts” as within the employee’s physical capabilities, that the employee had worked long enough to meet the vocational preparation level for this job and that a labor market survey found available employment.  The RBA also advised the employee that if he disagreed with the decision he was required to request a review within 10 days or the decision was final.

On August 9, 2005, at the employer’s request, Steven J. Schilperoort, M.D., Orthopedic Surgeon, evaluated the employee.
  Dr. Schilperoort reported:
Mr. Glick’s presentation today, as regards the physical examination, demonstrates normal strength, normal sensation, normal muscle mass, and normal deep tendon reflexes, which are then, therefore, by definition, valid.  There was voluntary restriction in right shoulder abduction, which disappeared with distraction and was felt to present functional interference in the physical examination.  Similarly, with provocative testing, there was give way on items such as Speed’s test.

Overall, however, functional interference in the examination was considered no greater than mild.  There was valid slight winging of the right parascapular region compared to the contralateral right of uncertain significance.  Certainly, there did not appear to be any functional incapacity based on this observation.  The differential of 25 degrees in shoulder abduction on the right side compared to the left disappeared with distraction in the performance of Adson’s maneuver, which was therefore not physiologic.

Without question the most telling feature on today’s evaluation was the muscle mass measurements.  Please note that the forearms have no involvement in this process and demonstrate a relatively typical 1.0-cm differential in muscle mass measurement, right dominant larger than left non-dominant.  Under normal use circumstances we expect a similar differential and this is exactly what we have.  The background for this, however, is Mr. Glick stating that he has had persistent pain involving the right shoulder and shoulder girdle grading no better than 7/10 on the 0 to 10 pain scale for the last six years.  As a consequence of his stated work exposure listed as 09/27/04, that stated pain level escalated to 9/10 and has now returned back to baseline, yet there is no evidence of any differential disuse muscle atrophy over the last six years’ time period.  Mr. Glick, therefore, has a considerable amount of disproportionate stated levels of pain to valid objective findings.  Symptomatically, however, Mr. Glick certainly has returned to his baseline level at least as far as his stated pain is concerned regardless of validity of that pain.

As regards the alleged injury of 09/27/04, please note on interview today Mr. Glick has a stated history of moving sheetrock around on that date resulting in progressive increasing pain and discomfort.  This examiner is unable to identify that stated mechanism of injury anywhere in the supplied medical records.  It appears as though his treating providers, instead, seem to have accepted the condition for which they were seeing him in 2004 and 2005 as actually originating from the 06/01/99 reported injury.  Had that been the case, upon interview today this examiner would have simply expected Mr. Glick to report that as the origins of his injury.  This examiner believes that this is another example quoted by other care providers of Mr. Glick being a poor historian.  

The high level of variability in Mr. Glick’s histories, even from one care provider to the next in consecutive order, is really quite substantial.  Medical care providers thereby recognize that in those individuals demonstrating said tendencies, heavy reliance must be made on objective findings only.  The only objective finding is that of minor winging of the scapula.
    

Dr. Schilperoort opined that the gap in medical treatment of almost four years from October 12, 2000 to August 27, 2004, indicated the employee’s right shoulder medical condition reached stability during that time.  Dr. Schilperoort further concluded:

We have a situation, therefore, of all objective findings being normal.  We have disproportionate stated levels of pain to valid objective findings.  We have functional interference in the physical examination in an individual who continues to receive time loss compensation in the absence of any identifiable objective evidence of pathology that should preclude his ability to work.  This examiner, therefore, feels comfortable in offering the diagnosis, in compliance with the AMA Guides, 5th Edition, of malingering.  It is this examiner’s opinion that Mr. Glick has long ago recovered from the right shoulder arthroscopy of 10/13/04 by Dr. Parker and that he is capable of return to full, regular, unlimited duty work without restriction.  The original 20-pound weight lifting limit suggested by Dr. Levine at the time of the 10/12/00 closing examination was based on the identification of subscapular crepitus, a condition which is now no longer present.
  

Dr. Schilperoort responded to specific questions asked by the Board Designee.  His diagnosis was:

1. Probable right shoulder strain associated with on-the-job injury episode of 06/01/99, resolved.

2. Chest wall/scapular contusion associated with 06/01/99 injury episode, resolved, with no permanent impairment of function.

3. Minor scapular winging of no clinical significance, etiology unclear.

4. Statements of right shoulder pain without specific injury episode, status post 10/15/04 right shoulder arthroscopy, normal.
5. History compatible with excessive somatic focus and possible anxiety disorder.

6. Malingering.

Dr. Schilperoort placed medical stability following the September 27, 2004, injury as November 17, 2004.  He opined that the employee had “no permanent impairment of function whatsoever” and that “No further medical treatment is identified.”

The employer paid the employee TTD benefits from October 13, 2004 through August 16, 2005.
  On August 26, 2005, based upon the August 9, 2005, EME report of Dr. Schilperoort, the employer filed a Controversion Notice denying TTD, temporary partial disability (TPD), permanent total disability (PTD) subsequent to November 17, 2004, PPI, medical treatment and transportation benefits subsequent to December 15, 2004, and reemployment benefits.

On September 29, 2005, the employee filed a WCC against the employer.  The employee sought TTD benefits and asserted unfair and frivolous controversion.

On May 12, 2006, the employee saw Dr. Cooper regarding his right shoulder.  Dr. Cooper and the employee apparently reviewed Dr. Schilperoort’s August 9, 2005 EME and noted Dr. Schilperoort’s impressions.

On October 31, 2006, the Board denied and dismissed the employee’s claim against Genuine Parts Company.
  The Board found:

The employee had two years from November 7, 2000 to file a WCC, in accordance with AS 23.30.105(a).  By his own testimony, the employee admitted that nothing had prevented him from timely filing a WCC, but that it had just “slipped through the cracks.”  The employer has demonstrated that the criteria for AS 23.30.105(a) are met.  Accordingly, the Board will deny and dismiss the employee’s claim against this employer in its entirety.
 

On December 7, 2006, the employee attended a Board ordered second independent medical evaluation (SIME) with Paul M. Puziss, M.D.  Dr. Puziss diagnosed: 
1. History right shoulder strain.

2. Bilateral moderately severe left and severe right scapulothoracic dysfunction (dysrhythmia/winging).

3. History right shoulder arthroscopic rotator cuff partial tear debridement.

4. Probable internal impingement right shoulder.

5. Bilateral, preexisting, multidirectional mildly moderate shoulder laxity, preexisting.

6. Bilateral acromioclavicular joint laxity, preexisting, moderate.

7. History 1999 shoulder strain.

8. Minimal bilateral scapulothoracic bursitis, probably somewhat symptomatic on the right.

9. Undermotivation.

10.  Possible mild somatization.

Dr. Puziss stated:

With the above exception of grip strength testing, there is no functional interference with this examination, pain behavior, or embellishment.  There was no evidence of malingering.  His gait and station were normal.

Dr. Puziss responded to specific questions asked by the Board Designee.  He opined:
The medical cause for the scapulothoracic dysfunction and/or winging is unknown.  His original EMG studies were negative.  The patient has fairly severe left and severe right serratus weakness.  His work injury did not cause these conditions of scapulothoracic dysrhythmia, but his dysrhythmia contributes to the ease with which this patient can injure his shoulder. . . He did, indeed, strain his shoulder in this accident, and of this there is little question.  This was not a severe strain, however.

I believe the 09/27/04 injury did aggravate, accelerate, and combine with the preexisting conditions, with the exception of the acromioclavicular laxity, to cause the patient to be symptomatic.  He does not now, nor did he ever have, any apparent adhesive capsulitis/frozen shoulder syndrome.

The patient had a temporary aggravation of preexisting conditions, i.e., the laxity of the glenohumeral joint and the scapulothoracic dysrhythmia problems that led to a weakened condition of the shoulder generally such that he was more susceptible to injury and I do believe he strained his rotator cuff in the accident of 09/27/2004.

Dr. Puziss explained:

It is difficult to relate any particular pains or problems now in the shoulder to the injury of 09/27/2004, which actually occurred on about 08/27/2004. His pains and dysfunction now are essentially all pre-existing.  Also, subjectively, his pains are little different now than they were in the years following his 1999 injury . . .

Dr. Puziss stated:

It is clear the patient can never return to work as a sheetrock installer.  He has permanent limitations and restrictions.  He should avoid any significant overheard work. . . However I do not believe these limitations are specifically related to his injury of 09/27/2004, but are due to poor conditioning and all of his preexisting conditions.  The patient constitutionally has probably always been incapable, and will be permanently incapable, of heavy overhead work based upon his scapulothoracic dysfunction.  I do not believe that this patient is malingering.  While he may have some somatization, I do not believe it is particularly evident today, and my concern is that the patient has been labeled a malinger (sic) without justification.  He does clearly have lack of motivation and other psychosocial factors, which have impeded recovery.  He does not appear to take much responsibility for his own physical condition or rehabilitation, nor for that matter, returning to some other form of work.  However, this does not mean he was not injured.  I, therefore, disagree with Dr. Schilperoort’s characterization of this patient’s conditions.
  
Dr. Puziss opined the employee was medical stable, and that he probably was as of July 1, 2005, when Dr. Cooper responded to Rehabilitation Specialist Hitchcock’s inquiries regarding PPI and job descriptions, indicating the employee would have a PPI as a result of the September 2004 work injury.
  Regarding physical impairment Dr. Puziss stated:
He has ongoing impairment based on the scapular winging, but I believe that none of his impairment would be related to his specific work injury of 09/27/2004, which did temporarily, but not permanently aggravate his clinical preexisting conditions.

Regarding what additional treatment the employee needed Dr. Puziss responed:

The patient has never had a very good physical therapy rehabilitation regimen.  It was evident from the file that after his 1999 injury, he did have right scapulothoracic dysrhythmia and winging, but it was never resolved, and, indeed, after this injury, it was never resolved either, and he appears to be worse on today’s examination than those examinations in the file.  A good physical therapy regimen is still indicated, however, it would not likely be due to this injury specifically.  Had he been working in almost any capacity over the last two years, he would have probably some increased strength, which might improve his winging, but he has not been working, and in my belief, he has been undermotivated.
 

Based upon the AMA Guides to Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition, Dr. Puziss opined the employee had a 7.5% impairment of the upper extremity, “but again, this would be preexisting.”  Dr. Puziss explained that while the employee previously had a 2% impairment of the upper extremity from his 1999 claim, “I cannot necessarily base the increased impairment due to scapular dysfunction from this actual injury, but I believe he strained his rotator cuff and that is why he required surgical debridement.”
  Dr. Puziss opined the employee’s PPI could be diminished with three to four months of physical therapy.
  
On January 17, 2007, a Prehearing Conference was held at which the SIME was reviewed by the parties.
  On September 19, 2007, a Prehearing Conference was held at which the issues of the employee’s claim were identified as: TTD, reemployment benefits, PPI, and medical costs and were scheduled for a hearing on November 6, 2007.
  At the beginning of the November 6, 2007 hearing the parties orally agreed to limit the hearing to the issues of past and future medical benefits and PPI.

III. HEARING TESTIMONY
Kory N. Glick

At the November 6, 2007 hearing, the employee testified that he was basing his claim for 7.5% PPI on Dr. Puziss’s SIME report and Dr. Cooper’s July 1, 2005 letter.
  He pointed out that Dr. Puziss stated his September 27, 2004 injury aggravated his preexisting condition and argued that this makes his new injury compensable.
  He asserted the October 1, 2004 MRI indicated rotator cuff damage in addition to winging.
  The employee explained that he first experienced a problem with his shoulder while working for the employer, when he was asked to move sheetrock.  He explained that he was a taper and had not had a problem with his shoulder while that was all he was doing.
  
On cross examination the employee confirmed he was relying on Dr. Puziss’s report for his claim for 7.5% PPI.
  He agreed that his strained rotator cuff condition was the basis of his 7.5% PPI claim.  The employee stated he “pretty much” agreed with Dr. Puziss’s report except for his conclusions regarding the employee’s lack of motivation.
  When asked if he could identify what future medical benefits he was seeking the employee said he was not sure but he would like to know why his shoulder was winging and have it repaired.

Steven J. Schilperoort, M.D.
At the November 6, 2007 hearing, Dr. Schilperoort testified telephonically from Portland, Oregon for the employer.  Dr.  Schilperoort identified himself as Board Certified in orthopedic surgery.  He pointed out that the observations of two treatment providers raised the issue that the employee might be malingering (P.A.-C Brooks on June 28, 1999 and Dr. Rhyneer on May 11, 2000).
  He testified the employee’s medical history indicated a pattern of recovery taking longer than the injury would indicate.  He testified that somatic focus or malingering would explain the discrepancy.
  Dr. Schilperoort explained the difference between malingering and somataform pain disorder.
  
Dr.  Schilperoort explained his examination process.  He offered the conclusion that none of the results evidenced an injury related to the employee’s reported September 27, 2004 injury.
  He explained he found no objective proof of any cause for the pain reported by the employee.  He further explained that the possibility of tendinopathy indicated in the October 2, 2004 MRI report was not confirmed by Dr. Parker’s October 15, 2004, surgery report.
  Dr.  Schilperoort testified the only objective medical finding he could establish was that the employee had scapular winging.
  He explained that scapular winging cannot be caused by lifting sheetrock as described by the employee.  He explained that scapular winging can be caused by an impact on the chest wall and force being exerted into the armpit.
  He testified that muscle mass testing indicated the employee was using his arm normally and that he found symptom magnification to be present.
  He explained he does not believe the employee incurred any PPI from his September 27, 2004 injury.
  He explained that this was consistent to the 7.5% PPI rating opined by Dr. Puziss as that rating was based on a progressive preexisting condition that was worsening but not related to the September 27, 2004 injury.
 He did not explain what in his opinion was causing the progressive worsening.  
On cross examination by the employee, Dr. Schilperoort explained he did not disagree with Dr. Parker performing diagnostic arthroscopic surgery because other testing failed to explain the employee’s reported pain levels, so it was reasonable to seek additional information.
  When questioned regarding Dr. Cooper’s July 1, 2005, prediction that the employee would have a PPI rating he explained it did not constitute a medical finding but only a prediction.

IV. POST HEARING EVIDENCE

At the conclusion of the November 6, 2007, hearing the Board requested additionally medical billing information from the employee and held the record open until December 5, 2007, to allow the parties to obtain that information and file written post hearing briefs based on the new evidence. On November 20, 2007, the employee filed an explanation regarding his claim for medical benefits.   The employee explained he had contacted the billing office at ANMC and was informed that “the insurance claim forms/medical bills presented to the board and other bills related to the surgery on October 13, 2004 were paid in full by AIG” and “I feel that this is no longer an issue and has been resolved.”

V. PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS
A. Employee’s Arguments

At hearing the employee explained the only past medical benefit he was seeking was the cost of surgery performed by Dr. Parker at ANMC.  He explained he was also seeking unspecified future medical benefits.  He further explained he was not sure what those future medical benefits would be but that he wanted to know why his shoulder is “winging.”  

The employee explained he was also seeking a 7.5% PPI benefit.  The employee offered as evidence the July 1, 2005, response “check the box” letter from Dr. Cooper to Northern Rehabilitation Services, Inc., indicating Dr. Cooper anticipated the employee would incur a PPI as a result of his September 27, 2004 injury.  The employee acknowledged however that he had in fact received no such PPI rating other than the 7.5% rating by Dr. Puziss.  The employee argued that Dr. Puziss stated the September 27, 2004, injury was a substantial aggravation of his prior injury and accordingly the employee believes it should be compensable.  
The employee stated he was not pursuing his claim for additional TTD.  The employee stated he was not pursuing an appeal of the RBA’s denial of reemployment benefits as he acknowledged he had missed the appeal time limit.  In his November 20, 2007, letter the employee stated he was no longer pursuing any past medical benefits. 
B. Employer’s Arguments

The employer pointed out that the Board had ruled the employee’s previous WCC regarding his right shoulder was barred by the statute of limitations and dismissed his prior claim pursuant to AS 23.30.105(a).

The employer pointed out that pursuant to AS 23.30.185, TTD benefits cannot be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.  Medical stability is defined as:  

Medical stability means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.

The employer assert the employee is entitled to no additional TTD benefits, as he was paid TTD through August 16, 2005;
 Dr. Puziss opined he was medically stable on July 1, 2005; and Dr. Schilperoort opined the employee was medically stable on November 17, 2004.

The employer points out that in Dr. Schilperoort’s August 9, 2005 EME report, he opined that the employee had no ratable impairment resulting from the September 27, 2004, industrial incident.  The employer relies on the December 7, 2006 SIME report of Dr. Puziss, and his opinion that the September 27, 2004 injury was a temporary aggravation of the claimant’s pre-existing condition and did not cause any permanent aggravation; and that the employee’s 7.5% whole person PPI rating is not attributable to his work injury.  The employer contends Dr. Puziss clarifies this rating by attributing 2% PPI to the employee’s 1999 claim and that although the employee has an ongoing impairment based upon his scapular winging, Dr. Puziss did believe his impairments are related to his specific work injury of September 27, 2004.  The employer argues that the employee has not submitted objective medical evidence from any of his treating physicians that dispute these opinions.

The employer points out that initially the employee asserted that the employer did not make payment to ANMC, but upon review, the employee was advised by the ANMC billing staff that all services had in fact been paid by the employer.  The employer asserts payment of services is further documented by a letter dated November 21, 2007, from Mr. Mark Nease, Principal Medical Billing Specialist for ANMC.
  The employer and its carrier maintain they did in fact provide payment for medical services and treatment in accordance with the statutes and regulations of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act; and that there are no outstanding medical bills and, therefore, no basis for any interest or penalty to be assessed against the employer.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. 
TTD AND REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

At the beginning of the November 6, 2007 hearing the parties agreed not to proceed with the issues of TTD and reemployment benefits.  Accordingly the Board will dismiss the employee’s claims for TTD and reemployment benefits without prejudice.

II.
MEDICAL BENEFITS
The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part: “The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....”  At AS 23.30.120 the Act provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries.  The presumption also applies to claims for additional medical treatment
 and for continuing medical care for palliative treatment.
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment or disability benefit and employment.
  This presumption continues during the course of recovery from the injury and disability.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  The Court also held the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) specifically applies to claims for medical benefits.
  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment would still be compensable, and the employer would still be liable for continuing medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a).
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).

The employee asserts claims for both past unpaid medical benefits and future medical benefits.  The Board shall first address the employee’s claim for unpaid medical expenses incurred prior to the hearing and owed to ANMC.  Following the November 6, 2007 hearing, the Board held the record open to allow the employee to submit any evidence of unpaid medical bills.  The employee confirmed in his post hearing filings that he had contacted the billing office at ANMC and was informed that “the insurance claim forms/medical bills presented to the board and other bills related to the surgery on October 13, 2004 were paid in full by AIG” and “I feel that this is no longer an issue and has been resolved.”
   
We find the employee has submitted no evidence that he has incurred any medical costs that have not previously been paid by the employer and in fact the employee communicated this fact to the Board post hearing.  Based on a total lack of evidence that the employee has incurred any unpaid past medical expenses, we find the employee has failed to raise the presumption of compensability for any past medical benefits that have not already been paid by employer.
  Based on the lack of any evidence that the employee has in fact incurred any unpaid medical costs, the employee’s claim for past medical benefits must be denied and dismissed.
The employee additionally asserted a claim for future medical benefits.  The employee testified at hearing that he would like to know why his shoulder was winging and have it repaired.  A review of the administrative record indicates Dr. Puziss opined that the employee’s PPI could be diminished after three to four months of physical therapy. 
   Dr. Puziss’s opinion is supported by the April 11, 2005 recommendation of Dr. Cooper that the employee continue physical therapy for four to six weeks
 and the May 17, 2005 recommendation of P.A.-C Serie for strengthening exercises.
   Accordingly, the Board finds the employee has raised the presumption for future medical benefits.  
As the employee has established the presumption regarding future medical benefits, the employer must present substantial evidence that the employee’s claim is not compensable to rebut the presumption.  When viewed in isolation, the Board finds the employer has rebutted the presumption regarding future medical benefits with the reports of Drs. Puziss and Schilperoort, who both opined the employee needs no additional medical care related to his workplace injury with the employer.  
Proceeding with the presumption analysis, the Board now considers if the employee has proven his claim for future medical benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  The employee offered no medical evidence that he will need future medical treatment other than physical therapy for his September 27, 2004, shoulder injury.  The reports of Drs. Puziss and Schilperoort support a finding that the employee has no need for additional medical treatment related to the claimed September 27, 2004, injury.  The employee argued that Dr. Puziss recommended physical therapy, but the Board finds Dr. Puziss was also clear that the recommendation was not the result of the September 27, 2004 injury.  Dr. Parker’s last recommendation was on January 4, 2005, that the employee avoid returning to work that involves overhead lifting and look into vocational rehabilitation but included no additional medical care.
  The most recent recommendation of Dr. Cooper, on April 11, 2005, suggested additional medical treatment of physical therapy for four to six weeks.
  On May 17, 2005, P.A.-C Serie recommended strengthening exercises for his rotator cuff and serratus anterior.
  The Board, based on Dr. Puziss’s opinion and explanation, does not agree with Dr. Schilperoot’s opinion concerning malingering on the part of the employee.  Despite the opinion of Dr. Puziss that the employee’s need for physical therapy is not related to his workplace injury with the employer, the Board finds that it may be.  The Board bases its finding on Dr. Schilperoort’s testimony regarding how scapular winging can be caused.  The Board finds that although the employee did not articulate it, the process of carrying sheetrock typically involves lifting the sheets with the arm over the sheet with the sheet tucked into the armpit.  The Board finds that impact to the chest wall and armpit, described by Dr. Schilperoort is a cause of scapular winging.  Based on the medical history and the employee’s testimony, we find his carrying of sheetrock substantially aggravated his scapular winging.  
Based on the entire administrative record, the Board finds the employee has proven his need for physical therapy by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Board bases this finding on the recommendations of Drs. Cooper and Puziss, P.A.-C Sirie and the Board’s finding regarding the mechanism of injury related to lifting sheetrock.  Accordingly, the Board finds the employee’s need for physical therapy to be work related and compensable.  The Board finds the employee is entitled to additional medical benefits of up to four months of physical therapy based on Dr. Puziss’s recommendation.  
The Board finds employee has failed to prove his claim for future medical benefits other than physical therapy by a preponderance of the evidence.   The Board bases its finding on the lack of any specific recommendation for medical care other than physical therapy related to the employee’s September 2004 injury and the specific findings of Drs. Puziss and Schilperoort that no additional medical care related to that injury is necessary.  
III. PPI BENEFITS
At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.190 provided, in part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . ."

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . .

AS 23.30.190(b) is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be calculated under the AMA Guides.  We have consistently followed this statute in our decisions and orders.
  As noted above, the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries, applicable to any claim for benefits under the workers' compensation statute.
 

To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an impairment and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it.
  A substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  
In this matter, only Dr. Cooper in his July 1, 2005, response letter, anticipated the employee would incur a PPI related to the September 27, 2004, injury.
  Dr. Cooper did not offer an actual rating but the Board finds Dr. Cooper’s anticipation of a PPI rating to be sufficient to raise the presumption. 
As noted above, there are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer the claimed work‑related impairment; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the impairment is work‑related.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  We have reviewed the available record.  We find substantial evidence in the record, including the reports of Drs. Puziss and Schilperoort, which indicate the employee has no permanent impairment resulting from his work with the employer, to rebut any presumption of the employee’s entitlement to the claimed PPI benefits.
  Dr. Puziss explained his PPI rating was based on scapular winging, which the employee had prior to his September 2004 injury.  He further explained the September 2004 injury temporarily, but not permanently, aggravated the employee’s preexisting conditions.
  Dr. Schilperoort specifically opined the employee had no PPI and that the October 2000 2% PPI rating of Dr. Levine was no longer present.

Proceeding with the presumption analysis, the Board now considers if the employee has proved his claim for 7.5% PPI benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  The employer argued that the employee has received no actual PPI rating associated with the September 27, 2004 injury.  The employee’s other primary treating physician, Dr. Parker, opined that after his most recent examination of the employee on January 4, 2005, the employee was completely healed, had good range of motion, no specific restrictions and could “work to whatever he finds comfortable.”
  Although the employee argued at hearing that he is entitled to the 7.5% PPI rating opined by Dr. Puziss, that report specifically stated that the PPI was not caused by the September 27, 2004, injury.  The SIME by Dr. Puziss also clarified that 2% of that 7.5% PPI rating was a previous impairment resulting from the 1999 claim,
 which was consistent with Dr. Levine’s October 12, 2000, PPI rating.
  Additionally, Dr. Schilperoort specifically found the employee had no PPI related to the work injury with the employer.
The Board finds Dr. Cooper’s July 1, 2005 response letter, anticipating the employee would incur a PPI related to the September 27, 2004 injury is only a prediction.  Dr. Puziss opined his 7.5% PPI rating was not related to the September 27, 2004 injury and included Dr. Levine’s October 12, 2000 2% PPI rating resulting from the 1999 claim.  The Board notes with concern that the employee’s PPI has possibly increased by 5.5% between October 2000 and December 2006.  Dr. Puziss, the only physician to opine a current PPI rating, while noting the increase, did not offer an explanation for it.  Dr. Schilperoort testified at hearing that in his opinion any increase in impairment was due to a progressive preexisting condition that was worsening but not related to the September 27, 2004 injury.
  But Dr. Schilperoort did not explain the cause of the progressive worsening.  
Based on the reports of Drs. Puziss and Schilperoot indicating that the employee has no permanent impairment resulting from his work with the employer, the Board finds the employee has failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to the claimed PPI benefits at this time.  The Board however finds the medical record incomplete as it lacks adequate explanation for the 5.5% increase in the employee’s PPI.  The Board finds that a second independent medical evaluation considering these questions is necessary under AS 23.30.135(a), and will assist the Board to ascertain the rights of the parties and resolve the dispute.  Based on Dr. Puziss’s recommendation of physical therapy we will maintain jurisdiction over the issue of additional PPI until the employee successfully completes the recommended three to four months of physical therapy.  We will order an additional SIME following the employee’s completion of physical therapy to identify the employee’s PPI at that time and identify the causes of any PPI increases or decreases.  
IV. PENALTIES AND INTEREST
Because the employee is due no additional TTD or PPI benefits and has no unpaid past medical benefits, the Board cannot award penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) or interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142.  The Board concludes the employee is not entitled to penalties or interest and we shall dismiss this claim.
ORDER

1. The employee’s claim for additional temporary total disability benefits under AS 23.30.185 is dismissed without prejudice.

2. The employee’s appeal of the RBA’s decision finding the employee not eligible for reemployment benefits is dismissed without prejudice.
3.
The employee’s claim for past medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a) is denied and dismissed.

4.  
The employee is entitled to medical benefits of up to four months of additional physical therapy under AS 23.30.095(a).

5.
Based on a significant medical dispute between the parties as to the degree of impairment and the cause of any impairment, the Board finds that a second independent medical evaluation considering these questions is necessary under AS 23.30.135(a), and will assist the Board to ascertain the rights of the parties and resolve the dispute.  Following the employee’s completion of physical therapy the Board orders an additional SIME to identify the employee’s PPI at that time and identify the causes of any PPI increases or decreases under AS 23.30.110(g).  
6.
The parties shall proceed under 8 AAC 45.092(h) and a further prehearing conference shall be conducted with Prehearing Officer Joireen Cohen to arrange the details of the SIME.  The Board remands this matter to Prehearing Officer Joireen Cohen to address the SIME process with the parties in accord with 8 AAC 45.092(h) and this order.
7.
The Board maintains jurisdiction over the employee’s claim for additional permanent partial impairment benefits under AS 23.30.185 pending his completion of the recommended physical therapy and the ordered SIME.

8.
The employee’s claim for penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) is denied and dismissed.
9.  
The employee’s claim for interest under AS 23.30.155(p) is denied and dismissed.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 31 day of January, 2008.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.  An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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� Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279.


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 312.


� Peek v. Alaska Pacific Assurance, 855 P.2d 414, 416 (Alaska 1993).


� 7/1/05 response letter from Dr. Cooper.


� DeYonge v. Nana/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000).
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� DeYonge, 1 P.3d at 96.  


� 12/7/06 Dr. Puziss SIME at 14.
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